
Financial Investment Board

Date: TUESDAY, 11 FEBRUARY 2020
Time: 1.45 pm
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS - WEST WING, GUILDHALL

Members: Nicholas Bensted-Smith (Chairman)
Henry Colthurst (Deputy Chairman)
Simon Duckworth
Alderman Robert Howard
Alderman Robert Hughes-Penney
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark
Deputy Clare James
Tim Levene
Andrien Meyers
Deputy Henry Pollard
James de Sausmarez
Ian Seaton
Deputy Philip Woodhouse

Next Meetings: 3 June 2020 13 July 2020 23 September 2020

Enquiries: Joseph Anstee
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk

N.B. Part of this meeting may be subject to audio-visual recording. 

Lunch will be served in the Guildhall Club at 1.00pm. 

John Barradell
Town Clerk

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Agenda

1. APOLOGIES

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 29 
November 2019.

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 4)

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 5 - 6)

5. MONTHLY INVESTMENT ANALYSIS REVIEW
Report of the Chamberlain

For Information
(Pages 7 - 24)

6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2020/21
Report of the Chamberlain

For Decision
(Pages 25 - 66)

7. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act.

For Decision

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda

10. PRESENTATION - GREEN FINANCE INSTITUTE



3

11. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2019.

For Decision
(Pages 67 - 72)

12. NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS
Report of the Town Clerk

For Information
(Pages 73 - 74)

13. INVESTMENT MONITORING REPORTS

a) Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2019: Pension Fund  
Report of the Chamberlain 

For Information
(Pages 75 - 92)

b) Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2019: City's Cash and Bridge 
House Estates  
Report of the Chamberlain

For Information
(Pages 93 - 114)

c) Quarterly Monitoring Report  
Report of Mercer

For Information
(Pages 115 - 130)

14. STEWARDSHIP REVIEW - UPDATE
Report of the Chamberlain

For Decision
(Pages 131 - 140)

15. RESOLUTION FROM THE COMMITTEE OF ALDERMEN TO ADMINISTER THE 
SIR WILLIAM COXEN TRUST FUND
To consider a resolution of the Committee of Aldermen to Administer the Sir William 
Coxen Trust Fund.

For Decision
(Pages 141 - 142)

16. CHARITIES POOL - VERBAL UPDATE
The Chamberlain to be heard.

For Information



17. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN
Report of the Town Clerk

For Information
(Pages 143 - 144)

18. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE

19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



FINANCIAL INVESTMENT BOARD 
 

Friday, 29 November 2019  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Financial Investment Board held at the Guildhall 
EC2 at 1.45 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Nicholas Bensted-Smith (Chairman) 
Alderman Robert Hughes-Penney 

Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 
James de Sausmarez 
 

 
Officers: 
Joseph Anstee - Town Clerk's Department 
Peter Kane - Chamberlain 
Kate Limna - Chamberlain's Department 
James Graham - Chamberlain's Department 
Catrina Arbuckle 
 
Also in attendance: 
Deputy Tom Hoffman 
 

- Mercer 
 
 
- Chief Commoner 

 
1. APOLOGIES  

Apologies for absence were received from Henry Colthurst (Deputy Chairman), 
Alderman Robert Howard, Deputy Clare James, Andrien Meyers and Deputy 
Henry Pollard. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
RESOLVED - That the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 17 September 2019 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

4. MONTHLY INVESTMENT ANALYSIS REVIEW  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain concerning the monthly 
investment analysis review for October 2019. The Board noted the current 
investment list, total investment values and average rate of return set out in the 
report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

5. MID-YEAR TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2019/20  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain concerning the mid-year 
Treasury Management review for the 2019/20 financial year. The Board 
discussed the increase in the margin on Gilt rates charged by Government for 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



loans issued to local authorities by the Public Works Loan Board. The 
Chamberlain advised that this had been unexpected and was likely to be the 
subject of further discussion after the General Election. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

6. RISK REGISTER FOR FINANCIAL INVESTMENT BOARD  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain reviewing the Financial 
Investment Board’s risk register. The Chamberlain introduced the report and 
outlined each amendment made to the risk register since the last review in turn, 
for the Board’s information. The Chamberlain also advised the Board of two 
senior staff changes at the London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV).  
 
A Member queried the due dates and target levels of risks on the register, and 
put to the Board whether more forward thinking was required when monitoring 
risks, such as creating risk trends for analysis by scoring each risk on a 
quarterly basis. The Chamberlain responded that other tools and formats were 
used on risk registers for other Committees, and this was something that could 
be taken away to consider whether they could be applied to the Board’s risk 
register. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Financial Investment Board: 
 

a) Note the existing risks and actions present on the Financial Investment 
Board’s Risk Register, and confirm that appropriate control measures 
are in place; 
 

b) Confirm that there are no further risks relating to the services overseen 
by the Financial Investment Board; and 

 
c) Ask officers to consider alternative tools and formatting that might enable 

further analysis of the Risk Register going forward. 
 

7. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There was no other business. 
 

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

Item No.     Paragraph(s) in Schedule 12A 
10-18        3 
19-20        - 

 

Page 2



 
10. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

RESOLVED - That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 17 
September 2019 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

11. NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
The Board received a list of non-public outstanding actions. 
 

12. INVESTMENT MONITORING REPORTS  
a) Performance Monitoring to 30 September: Pension Fund 

The Board received a report of the Chamberlain. 
 
b) Performance Monitoring to 30 September: City's Cash and Bridge 

House Estates 
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

c) Quarterly Monitoring Report  
The Board received a report of Mercer. 

 
13. INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT - CITY'S CASH  

The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

14. PRIVATE EQUITY PORTFOLIO REVIEW  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

15. INVESTMENT CONSULTANT STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES (LGPS ONLY)  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

16a. RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT UPDATE – FOLLOW UP TO STEWARDSHIP 
ASSESSMENT  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

16b. RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT UPDATE  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

17. SIR WILLIAM COXEN TRUST - REVIEW OF INVESTMENTS  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

18. FINANCIAL FORECAST AND POTENTIAL ASSET DISPOSAL  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

19. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were no non-public questions. 
 

20. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were several items of other business. 
 

Page 3



The meeting closed at 3.05 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Joseph Anstee 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480 
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 4



Financial Investment Board – Outstanding Actions

Item Date Action Officer 
responsible

To be completed/ 
progressed to next 

stage
Progress Update

1.
29 
November 
2019

Risk Register
Corporate 
Treasurer / 
Town Clerk

June 
2020

Officers to look at including risk 
trend analysis tools as used 
elsewhere on the Risk Register 
going forward

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 6



December 2019

City Of London Corporation

Monthly Investment Analysis Review

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5



Monthly Economic Summary

City Of London Corporation

 General Economy

December’s economic data began with the November Markit/CIPS Manufacturing PMI survey falling to 48.9, from 49.6 the 
previous month. The survey’s details showed that British manufacturers cut jobs in November at the fastest rate since 2012, 
as pressures from Brexit and a global trade slowdown caused the sector’s longest decline since the financial crisis. The 
Construction PMI, meanwhile, rose by 1.1 points to 45.3 - still indicating contraction - as companies yet again noted subdued 
client demand due to political uncertainty. The Services PMI decreased to 49.3 from October’s figure of 50.0, leaving the 
Composite figure also at 49.3 – a decrease from 50.0 in October, indicating a contraction in the UK’s economy last month. 
The UK trade deficit widened sharply to £5.19bn in October 2019, the biggest since April, from a revised £1.92bn in the 
previous month. Imports jumped by 6.2%, while exports rose at a much softer 0.8%. GDP data, meanwhile, showed that the 
UK economy stagnated in the three months to October 2019, falling from the 0.3% q/q growth recorded in the previous period. 
Year-on-year GDP growth fell slightly to 0.7% in October, from 0.9% y/y in September. 
The UK’s unemployment rate remained at 3.8% in the three months to October, as the number of people employed rose by 
24,000 to 32.8m. Average earnings including bonuses rose by an annual 3.2% rate, slowing from the 3.7% gain recorded in 
the three months to September. Average earnings excluding bonuses growth slowed less sharply to 3.5% y/y in the three 
months to October, from 3.6% y/y in the previous period. 
CPI was unchanged at 1.5% y/y in November, slightly above market expectations of 1.4% but well below the Bank of 
England’s 2% target. This was the lowest inflation rate since November 2016, but the BoE forecasts suggest that inflation 
could fall to as low as 1.25% in early 2020 due to caps on energy and water prices. The core CPI rate (which strips out the 
more volatile components), was 1.7% in November, unchanged from the previous month. 
November’s retail sales fell by 0.6% m/m after reporting no growth in October, which missed market expectations of a 0.3% 
m/m increase. This marked the 4th consecutive month of no growth in trade, the longest run since 1996. Year-on-year retail 
sales growth slowed to 1.0% in November, from the 3.1% gain recorded in the previous period. 
The Confederation of British Industry's monthly retail sales balance rose 3 points from a month earlier to 0 in December, the 
highest level since April, but below market expectations of +3. The latest reading still signalled flat sales overall, with the 
volume of orders placed on suppliers falling for the 8th consecutive month. The GfK Consumer Confidence index, meanwhile, 
rose to -11 in December, from the previous month’s reading of -14. 
Against this backdrop, the Bank of England voted by a 7-2 majority to hold interest rates at 0.75% during their December 
Meeting. The two dissenting members voted to cut interest rates to 0.5%. Outside of economic and market events the general 
election on the 12th December saw the Conservatives gain a 78 seat majority. This result provided a late boost to domestic 
financial markets as the large majority was expected to ease through the Withdrawal Agreement Bill, thus remove some near-
term Brexit uncertainty. 
 
In the US, non-farm payrolls rose by 266,000 in November, following an upwardly revised increase of 156,000 in October, 

P
age 8



Housing  
Buoyed by a 1% monthly gain, Halifax reported that house prices rose by 2.1% y/y in November, which was well above 
October’s 0.9% y/y gain and the consensus forecast of a 1% y/y rise. 
Currency  
Sterling exhibited significant volatility against both the US Dollar and Euro last month, mainly due to the outcome of the 
general election. Having garnered a Conservative majority, the PM can fulfil his plan to take the UK out of the EU on the 31st 
January 2020. As a result, the pound rose from $1.29 to $1.326 and from €1.172 to €1.182 
Forecast  
The General Election win for the Conservatives has taken away some Brexit uncertainty, and as a result, both Link Asset 
Services and Capital Economics have left their forecasts unchanged. 

 
In the US, non-farm payrolls rose by 266,000 in November, following an upwardly revised increase of 156,000 in October, 
easily beating market expectations of 180,000. This was the largest advance in payrolls since January, with notable job gains 
occurring in health care and in professional and technical services. Employment also increased in manufacturing, reflecting the 
return of workers from a strike at General Motors. US average hourly earnings for all employees registered a 0.2% m/m gain in 
November, following an upwardly revised 0.4% rise in October, which was slightly below market expectations of a 0.3% gain. 
The unemployment rate fell to 3.5% in November from 3.6% in October, which missed market expectations for the rate to 
remain unchanged. 
US CPI increased to 2.1% y/y in November from 1.8% in October, which was marginally above consensus forecasts of a 2.0% 
rise. This was the highest rate since November 2018, as food inflation was little-changed while energy prices dropped at a 
much slower pace. The core inflation rate, which excludes volatile items such as food and energy, was unchanged at 2.3 
percent, in line with market forecasts. The US economy grew at a 2.1% annualised rate in the third quarter, following the 2% 
expansion recorded in the second quarter. The increase in real GDP in the third quarter reflected positive contributions from 
consumption, government spending and residential spending that were partly offset by negative contributions from non-
residential fixed investment and private inventory investment. 
 
The Euro Area unemployment rate fell to 7.5% in October, matching market expectations, from an upwardly revised 7.6% in 
the previous month. This is the lowest rate recorded in the Euro Area since July 2018.  The number of unemployed persons in 
the Euro Area decreased to 12.334 million in October from 12.365 million in September. Across the European Union as a 
whole, the unemployment rate was unchanged at 6.3% in October, where it has remained for the last six months. 

P
age 9



City Of London Corporation

Current Investment List Current Investment List

Borrower Principal (£) Interest Rate Start Date Maturity Date
Lowest Long 

Term Rating

Fitch Long 

Term Rating

Historic 

Risk of 

Default

1 USDBF Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 55,000,000 1.42% USDBF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 USDBF Aberdeen Standard Investments 5,000,000 0.99% USDBF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 USDBF Federated Sterling Cash Plus Fund 5,000,000 0.89% USDBF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 MMF CCLA 10,000,000 0.72% MMF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 MMF Aberdeen Standard Investments 83,800,000 0.73% MMF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 MMF Deutsche 51,900,000 0.70% MMF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 MMF Federated Investors (UK) 74,800,000 0.73% MMF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 MMF Invesco 98,200,000 0.76% MMF AAA AAA 0.000%

1 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd 11,400,000 1.07% 02/04/2019 02/01/2020 AA- AA- 0.000%

1 Yorkshire Building Society 20,000,000 1.15% 26/04/2019 27/01/2020 A- A- 0.004%

1 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd 11,900,000 0.91% 29/07/2019 29/01/2020 AA- AA- 0.002%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 22,600,000 0.90% Call32 A+ A+ 0.005%

1 Nationwide Building Society 25,000,000 0.85% 10/09/2019 10/02/2020 A A 0.006%

1 Leeds Building Society 11,600,000 0.81% 14/08/2019 14/02/2020 A- A- 0.006%

1 Coventry Building Society 20,000,000 1.00% 16/05/2019 17/02/2020 A- A- 0.007%

1 National Westminster Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 0.80% 15/11/2019 17/02/2020 A A+ 0.007%

1 Nationwide Building Society 9,000,000 0.75% 20/08/2019 20/02/2020 A A 0.007%

1 Nationwide Building Society 25,000,000 0.88% 10/09/2019 10/03/2020 A A 0.010%

1 Santander UK Plc 20,000,000 0.90% Call95 A A+ 0.014%

1 Skipton Building Society 20,000,000 0.95% 25/07/2019 27/04/2020 BBB+ A- 0.049%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 10,000,000 1.25% 12/06/2019 20/05/2020 A+ A+ 0.020%

1 National Westminster Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 0.88% 15/11/2019 29/05/2020 A A+ 0.022%

1 Leeds Building Society 8,400,000 0.92% 12/12/2019 12/06/2020 A- A- 0.024%

1 Rushmoor Borough Council 10,000,000 0.90% 18/12/2019 18/06/2020 AA AA 0.011%

1 Santander UK Plc 30,000,000 1.00% Call180 A A+ 0.026%

1 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd 20,000,000 1.05% Call185 AA- AA- 0.012%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 1.00% Call185 A A 0.027%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 0.99% Call185 A A 0.027%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 0.98% Call185 A A 0.027%

1 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd 12,000,000 1.02% 29/07/2019 29/07/2020 AA- AA- 0.014%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 1.10% 06/08/2019 06/08/2020 A+ A+ 0.032%

1 National Westminster Bank Plc (RFB) 10,000,000 0.95% 01/11/2019 28/08/2020 A A+ 0.035%

1 Plymouth City Council 10,000,000 0.95% 23/12/2019 23/09/2020 AA AA 0.018%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 1.09% Call270 A A 0.039%

1 Barclays Bank Plc (NRFB) 25,000,000 1.01% 29/10/2019 29/10/2020 A A+ 0.044%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 10,000,000 1.10% 01/11/2019 02/11/2020 A+ A+ 0.044%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 15,900,000 1.10% 04/11/2019 04/11/2020 A+ A+ 0.045%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 1.10% 06/11/2019 06/11/2020 A+ A+ 0.045%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 1.10% 27/11/2019 27/11/2020 A+ A+ 0.048%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 1.10% 27/12/2019 29/12/2020 A+ A+ 0.053%

P
age 10



City Of London Corporation

Current Investment List Current Investment List

Borrower Principal (£) Interest Rate Start Date Maturity Date
Lowest Long 

Term Rating

Fitch Long 

Term Rating

Historic 

Risk of 

Default

1 Santander UK Plc 50,000,000 1.15% Call365 A A+ 0.053%

0 Borrower - Funds Principal (£) Interest Rate Start Date Maturity Date

1 LGIM 75,000,000 4.91%

1 ROYAL LONDON 75,000,000 4.37%

1 Total Investments £1,141,500,000 1.42%

0 Total Investments - excluding Funds £991,500,000 0.94% 0.016%

0 Total Investments - Funds Only £150,000,000 4.64%

P
age 11



City Of London Corporation

Portfolio Composition by Link Asset Services' Suggested Lending Criteria

Portfolios weighted average risk number = 3.17

WARoR = Weighted Average Rate of Return
WAM = Weighted Average Time to Maturity

% of Colour Amount of % of Call Excluding Calls/MMFs/USDBFs

% of Portfolio Amount in Calls Colour in Calls in Portfolio WARoR WAM WAM at Execution WAM WAM at Execution

Yellow 34.16% £338,700,000 94.10% £318,700,000 32.14% 0.75% 13 14 219 229

Pink1 0.00% £0 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0 0 0

Pink2 6.56% £65,000,000 100.00% £65,000,000 6.56% 1.35% 0 0 0 0

Purple 0.00% £0 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0 0 0

Blue 5.04% £50,000,000 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.86% 127 176 127 176

Orange 19.55% £193,800,000 21.98% £42,600,000 4.30% 1.06% 213 291 243 344

Red 28.64% £284,000,000 63.38% £180,000,000 18.15% 0.99% 190 235 113 238

Green 6.05% £60,000,000 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.99% 80 246 80 246

No Colour 0.00% £0 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0 0 0

100.00% £991,500,000 61.15% £606,300,000 61.15% 0.94% 112 153 166 272

Yellow Yellow Calls Pink1 Pink1 Calls Pink2 Pink2 Calls
Purple Purple Calls Blue Blue Calls Orange Orange Calls
Red Red Calls Green Green Calls No Colour NC Calls

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Under 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-6 Months 6-9 Months 9-12 Months 12 Months +

Link Asset Services City Of London Corporation

Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

P
age 12



City Of London Corporation

Investment Risk and Rating Exposure

Rating/Years <1 year 1 to 2 yrs 2 to 3 yrs 3 to 4 yrs 4 to 5 yrs

AA 0.02% 0.04% 0.10% 0.18% 0.24%

A 0.05% 0.15% 0.28% 0.42% 0.59%

BBB 0.16% 0.44% 0.77% 1.15% 1.55%

Council 0.016% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000%

Historic Risk of Default

-0.20%

0.30%

0.80%

1.30%

1.80%

2.30%

<1 year 1 to 2 yrs 2 to 3 yrs 3 to 4 yrs 4 to 5 yrs

Investment Risk Vs. Rating Categories 

AA A BBB Council

AA- 
£55,300,000 

5% 

AAA 
£383,700,000 

39% 

AA 
£20,000,000 

2% 

A 
£314,000,000 

32% 

A+ 
£138,500,000 

14% 

A- 
£60,000,000 

6% 

BBB+ 
£20,000,000 

2% 

Rating Exposure 

Historic Risk of Default 
This is a proxy for the average % risk for each investment based on 
over 30 years of data provided by Fitch, Moody's and S&P. It simply 
provides a calculation of the possibility of average default against the 
historical default rates, adjusted for the time period within each year 
according to the maturity of the investment. 
Chart Relative Risk 
This is the authority's risk weightings compared to the average % risk of 
default for “AA”, “A” and “BBB” rated investments. 
Rating Exposures 
This pie chart provides a clear view of your investment exposures  to 
particular ratings.  

P
age 13



Date
Update 

Number
Institution Country Rating Action

06/12/2019 1708 HSBC UK Bank PLC (RFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was downgraded to 'A+' from 'AA-'.

06/12/2019 1709 HSBC Bank PLC (NRFB) United Kingdom
The Long Term Rating was downgraded to 'A+' from 'AA-'. At the same time the Viability 

Rating was downgraded to 'a' from 'a+'.

18/12/2019 1711 United Kingdom Sovereign United Kingdom The Sovereign Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Negative Outlook.     

20/12/2019 1714 Abbey National Treasury Services PLC United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Barclays Bank PLC (NRFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Barclays Bank UK PLC (RFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Close Brothers Ltd United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Clydesdale Bank PLC United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Co-operative Bank PLC (The) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 HSBC Bank PLC (NRFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 HSBC UK Bank PLC (RFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets PLC 

(NRFB)
United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Lloyds Bank PLC (RFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 NatWest Markets PLC (NRFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 Santander UK PLC United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1714 The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB) United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

Monthly Credit Rating Changes

FITCH

City Of London Corporation

P
age 14



Date
Update 

Number
Institution Country Rating Action

Monthly Credit Rating Changes

FITCH

City Of London Corporation

20/12/2019 1715 Coventry Building Society United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1715 Leeds Building Society United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1715 Nationwide Building Society United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1715 Principality Building Society United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1715 Skipton Building Society United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.

20/12/2019 1715 Yorkshire Building Society United Kingdom The Long Term Rating was removed from Negative Watch and placed on Stable Outlook.P
age 15



 

Date
Update 

Number
Institution Country Rating Action

02/12/2019 1707 Credit Suisse AG Switzerland The Outlook on the Long Term Rating was changed to Positive from Stable.

18/12/2019 1713 HSBC Bank Plc (NRFB) United Kingdom The Outlook on the Long Term Rating was changed to Negative from Stable.

Monthly Credit Rating Changes

MOODY'S

City Of London Corporation

P
age 16



Date
Update 

Number
Institution Country Rating Action

11/12/2019 1710 Macquarie Bank Ltd. Australia
The Long Term Rating was upgraded to 'A+' from 'A'. At the same time the Outlook on 

the Long Term Rating was changed to Stable from Positive.

18/12/2019 1712 United Kingdom Sovereign 
United 

Kingdom
The Outlook on the Sovereign Rating was changed to Stable from Negative.

Monthly Credit Rating Changes

S&P

City Of London Corporation

P
age 17



City Of London Corporation

Whilst Link Asset Services makes every effort to ensure that all the information it provides is accurate and complete, it does not guarantee the 
correctness or the due receipt of such information and will not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions arising there from.  All information 
supplied by Link Asset Services should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business decision and should not be used as a sole basis 
for any decision.  The Client should not regard the advice or information as a substitute for the exercise by the Client of its own judgement. 
  
Link Asset Services is a trading name of Link Treasury Services Limited (registered in England and Wales No. 2652033). Link Treasury Services Limited 
is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority only for conducting advisory and arranging activities in the UK as part of its Treasury 
Management Service, FCA register number 150403. Registered office: 6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ. For further information, visit 
www.linkassetservices.com/legal-regulatory-status. 

 

P
age 18



ANNEX A

MONTHLY INVESTMENT REVIEW AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Couterparty Total Average
Limit Invested as at Rate of

31-Dec-19 Return
£M £M %

TOTAL INVESTED 1,141.5             1.42%

UK BANKS
Barclays 100.0              25.0                  1.01%
HSBC 100.0              -                    -          
Lloyds 150.0              115.9                1.11%
NatWest 100.0              50.0                  0.86%

190.9                

BUILDING SOCIETIES
Coventry 20.0                20.0                  1.00%
Leeds 20.0                20.0                  0.86%
Nationwide 120.0              59.0                  0.85%
Skipton 20.0                20.0                  0.95%
Yorkshire 20.0                20.0                  1.15%

139.0                

FOREIGN BANKS
Australia & New Zealand 100.0              35.3                  0.96%
National Australia Bank 100.0              -                    -          
Svenska Handelsbanken 100.0              -                    -          

35.3                  

LIQUIDITY FUNDS
Aberdeen SLI Liquidity Fund 100.0              83.8                  0.73%
CCLA - Public Sector Deposit Fund 100.0              10.0                  0.72%
Deutsche Global Liquidity Fund 100.0              51.9                  0.70%
Federated Prime Liquidity Fund* 100.0              74.8                  0.73%
Invesco Sterling Liquidity Fund 100.0              98.2                  0.76%

318.7                

ULTRA SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS
Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 100.0              55.0                  1.42%
Aberdeen SLI Short Duration Fund* 100.0              5.0                    0.99%
Federated Sterling Cash Plus Fund* 100.0              5.0                    0.89%

65.0                  

SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS
L&G 100.0              75.0                  4.91%
Royal London 100.0              75.0                  4.37%

150.0                
NOTICE ACCOUNTS
Australia and New Zealand 185 Days Account 100.0              20.0                  1.05%
Goldman Sachs 185 Days Account 100.0              20.0                  0.98%
Goldman Sachs 185 Days Account 100.0              20.0                  0.99%
Goldman Sachs 185 Days Account 100.0              20.0                  1.00%
Goldman Sachs 270 Days Account 100.0              20.0                  1.09%
Lloyds 32 Days Account 150.0              22.6                  0.95%
Santander 95 Days Account 100.0              20.0                  0.90%
Santander 180 Days Account 100.0              30.0                  1.00%
Santander 365 Days Account 100.0              50.0                  1.15%

222.6                
CALL ACCOUNTS
Lloyds Instant Access 150.0              -                    -          

-                    
PUBLIC SECTOR 
Plymouth City Council 25.0                10.0                  0.95%
Rushmoor Borough Council 25.0                10.0                  0.90%

20.0                  

TOTAL 1,141.5             

H:\fincon\winword\KL\Financial Investment Board\Cttee 11-02-20\Annex to Monthly Investment Analysis 31-12-2019

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



ANNEX B

MONTH BY MONTH REPAYMENT PROFILE

Invested as at Average
31-Dec-19 Rate of

£M Return
%

Total 1,141.5            1.42%

Fixed Term Deposits
January 2020 43.3
February 2020 76.6
March 2020 34.0
April 2020 20.0
May 2020 30.0
June 2020 18.4
July 2020 12.0
August 2020 30.0
September 2020 10.0
October 2020 25.0
November 2020 65.9
December 2020 20.0

385.2               0.98%

Money Market Funds 318.7               0.73%
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Fund 65.0                 1.35%
Short-Dated Bond Fund 150.0               4.64%
Notice Accounts
- ANZ 185 Days 20.0                   
- Goldman Sachs 185 Days 60.0                   
- Goldman Sachs 270 Days 20.0                   
- Santander 95 Days 20.0                   
- Santander 180 Days 30.0                   
- Santander 365 Days 50.0                   
- Lloyds 32 Days 22.6                   222.6               1.03%

756.3               

385.2 

222.6 150.0 

65.0 

318.7 

Invested £1,141.5m

Fixed Term Deposits

Notice Accounts

Short-Dated Bond Fund

Ultra-Short Dated Bond
Fund

Money Market Funds

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



ANNEX C

0.40

0.45

0.50

0.55

0.60

0.65

0.70

0.75

0.80

0.85

0.90

0.95

1.00

1.05

1.10

1.15

1.20

1.25

1.30

1.35

1.40

1.45

1.50

1.55

Treasury Portfolio Weighted Average Rate of Return (WARoR) vs. Benchmarks

Bank Rate 3M LIBID 6M LIBID WARoR (Exc SDBFs) WARoR (Inc SDBFs)

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 24



Committee: Date:
Financial Investment Board 11 February 2020
Subject:
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy 2020/21

Public

Report of:
The Chamberlain
Report author:
James Graham – Chamberlain’s Department

For Decision

Summary

The attached document sets out the City’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy (TMSS) for 2020/21.  The Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Statement for 2020/21 has been 
updated taking account of the latest information concerning the organisation’s 
capital plans and external factors, such as the prospects for interest rates.  
The document includes various Treasury and Prudential Indicators required to 
be set for the City Fund to ensure that the City’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable and to help the organisation identify and 
control the risks around its treasury management activity.  
As has historically been the case, this report covers the treasury management 
activity carried out across the organisation, including in respect of City’s Cash 
and Bridge House Estates. As City’s Cash borrowing is not covered by the 
regulatory framework established for local authorities, the City has adopted its 
own formal policy in 2018/19 via the City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement 
which is included in this report at Appendix 9.
The main proposals within the document are incorporated within the separate 
report entitled “City Fund - 2020 Budget Report” being considered by the Finance 
Committee on 18 February 2020 and by the Court of Common Council on 5 
March 2020.  
Responsibility for approving the City’s borrowing plans remains with the Court of 
Common Council, not the Financial Investment Board. 
The key areas to highlight are:

 As at 31 December 2019, the Corporation has cash balances totalling 
£1,141.5m.  Cash balances have increased during 2018/19, as City’s Cash 
has taken receipt of £250m borrowing proceeds following the Corporation’s 
private placement exercise. Nonetheless, most of the cash balances reside 
within the City Fund and comprise of liabilities on City Fund’s balance sheet 
(cash that needs to be paid out to third parties or used for a specific purpose 
at some point in the future) together with cash backed reserves. 

 The Corporation’s capital plans create a borrowing requirement across both 
the City Fund and City’s Cash. City’s Cash has addressed this borrowing 
requirement through the issuance of £450m market debt during 2018/19, 
£200m of which is deferred until 2021/22. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



 The City Fund borrowing requirement is expected to increase to £446.6m by 
2022/23. For the City Fund, there is no immediate requirement to take on 
external borrowing in the upcoming year as in the near term, external 
borrowing would serve to increase cash balances. Furthermore, new 
borrowing would create additional revenue pressures through a “cost of 
carry”, as the rate payable on external borrowing is higher than the interest 
receivable from treasury management investment activity. Therefore, the 
proposed treasury management strategy recommends that the City Fund 
borrowing requirement is managed through the prudent use of internal 
resources during 2020/21. 

 The benefits of this strategy (lower financing costs and reduced counterparty 
risk) need to be carefully evaluated against the risk of incurring higher 
borrowing costs in future. The interest rate environment is judged to be 
sufficiently benign in the near term to accommodate an internal borrowing 
approach. Interest rates are monitored daily and should circumstances 
change, the Chamberlain will maintain the flexibility to meet some or all of 
the City Fund borrowing requirement through external borrowing. As such 
the operational boundary and authorised limit for external debt (Appendix 3 
of the TMSS) have been revised to enable the City to secure external debt 
to meet some or all of the borrowing requirement.

 In October 2019, the Government’s raised the interest rate payable by local 
authorities on new loans from the Public Works Loan Board to 1.8% above 
gilts. The effects of this decision are still evolving but it is likely that the 
increase will lead to a wider range of borrowing sources available to the 
Corporation by making private market debt more competitive. The 
Corporation will need to give careful consideration to the source of external 
borrowing (when necessary) in order to secure best value.

 As the Corporation currently maintains significant cash balances, 
consideration has been given to the appropriateness of the investment 
strategy to secure the capital value of the Corporation’s resources, ensure 
cash is available when needed and, after securing these goals, the 
achievement of suitable returns. The strategy recommends that the overall 
limit on “non-specified investments” and maximum principal sums invested 
for more than one year is increased from £300m to £500m (sections 8.2 and 
9 within the TMSS), which will enable the Corporation to allocate a greater 
proportion of its cash under management to investments of over 365 days in 
duration and to increase its allocation to the two existing short dated bond 
funds. This does not mean that non-specified investments will be held 
constantly at this level, but it will enable the Chamberlain to act flexibly within 
these limits should circumstances dictate. Prudent, longer term investments 
will mitigate the gradual erosion of the real capital value of the Corporation’s 
cash resources.  

 It is proposed that the City continues to be prepared to lend monies for up to 
three years’ duration based on risk assessments for each opportunity 
undertaken by Treasury Officers and discussed with the Chamberlain. In the 
current risk environment, it is recommended that creditworthiness policy 
(section 8.2 within the TMSS) maintains the existing high standards of 
creditworthiness for approved counterparties. 

Page 26



 Officers have identified additional potential eligible counterparties that qualify 
under the existing creditworthiness policy and these are presented for 
consideration by the Board under Appendix 5 of the TMSS. Each of the 
proposed counterparties is domiciled in a country with a AAA rating and has 
credit ratings that either match or exceed the minimum creditworthiness 
thresholds set by the Corporation. By adopting additional counterparties, the 
Corporation will be able to diversify counterparty risk within its treasury 
investments. The banks proposed for inclusions are as follows:

Table 1: Eligible banks for consideration to be added to the approved 
counterparty list

Bank Name Country
Fitch 
Long 
Term 
Rating

Fitch 
Short 
Term 
Rating

Bank of Montreal Canada AA- F1+
Royal Bank of Canada Canada AA- F1+
Toronto-Dominion Bank Canada AA- F1+
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen 
Girozentrale Germany A+ F1+

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A Netherlands AA- F1+
DBS Bank Ltd. Singapore AA- F1+
United Overseas Bank Ltd. Singapore AA- F1+
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB Sweden AA- F1+
Swedbank AB Sweden AA- F1+
Handelsbanken Plc UK AA F1+

 In assessing the creditworthiness of prospective counterparties, the City 
does not rely solely on the ratings issued by the credit rating agencies but 
uses additional market information such as credit default swap prices and 
rating watches and outlooks (section 8.2 of the TMSS). Credit ratings are 
monitored on daily basis by Link Asset Services (the City’s treasury 
management consultant) and treasury team officers are alerted to any 
changes.  

 Local authorities are legally required to set aside a prudent amount for the 
provision of the repayment of prudential borrowing from revenue each year. 
It should be noted that this requirement applies for all unfunded City Fund 
capital expenditure (i.e. spending that is not immediately financed through 
capital grants, capital receipts etc.) not just for actual external borrowing. The 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement for 2020/21 sets out 
this policy for the forthcoming year and is included at Appendix 3 in the 
TMSS.

The main changes to the document from last year’s version are highlighted in yellow 
and underlined.

Page 27



Recommendations
It is recommended that the Financial Investment Board reviews and approves 
the attached Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy for 2020/21, and submits it to the Finance Committee and the Court of 
Common Council as part of the City Fund – 2020 Budget Report for formal 
adoption.
Annex
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2020/21
James Graham
Group Accountant – Pensions & Treasury Management
T:  020 7332 1137
E: James.Graham@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 28

mailto:James.Graham@cityoflondon.gov.uk


TREASURY MANAGEMENT
STRATEGY STATEMENT

AND

ANNUAL INVESTMENT
STRATEGY

2020/21

Issue Date: 03/02/2020
To be Agreed by Court of Common Council 05/03/2020

Page 29



1

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy 2020/21

1. Introduction

1.1. Background

The City of London Corporation (the City) is required to operate a balanced budget, 
which broadly means that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  
Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies 
are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the City’s 
low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment 
return.  

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
capital expenditure plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
needs of the City, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the 
organisation can meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-
term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer-term cash 
flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously 
drawn may be restructured to meet risk or cost objectives.

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities.

1.2. The Treasury Management Policy Statement

The City defines its treasury management activities as:

The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transaction; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.

The City regards the security of its financial investments through the successful 
identification, monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria by which the 
effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be measured.  Accordingly, 
the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 
implications for the organisation, and any financial instruments entered into to 
manage these risks.

The City acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is therefore 
committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management 
and to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, 
within the context of effective risk management.

Page 30



2

1.3. CIPFA Requirements

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (revised November 2009) was adopted by the 
Court of Common Council (the Court) on 3 March 2010. The Code of Practice was 
revised in November 2017.

The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:

(i) The City of London Corporation will create and maintain, as the cornerstones 
for effective treasury management:

 A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives 
and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities

 Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner 
in which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those activities.

(ii) This organisation (i.e. the Court of Common Council) will receive reports on 
its treasury management policies, practices and activities, including as a 
minimum an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year 
review and an annual report after its close.

(iii) The Court of Common Council delegates responsibility for the implementation 
and regular monitoring of its treasury management policies to the Finance 
Committee and the Financial Investment Board; the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions is delegated to the 
Chamberlain, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy 
statement and TMPs and, if he/she is a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard 
of Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

(iv) The Court of Common Council nominates the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury 
management strategy and policies.

The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local 
authorities to prepare a capital strategy. The capital strategy provides a high-level 
long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services as well as an overview 
of how the associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is reported separately 
form the Capital Strategy. This ensures the separation of the core treasury function 
under security, liquidity and yield principles from the policy and commercial 
investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset.

1.4. Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20

The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations require the 
City to ‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next 
three years to ensure that the City’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent 
and sustainable. The City’s Prudential Indicators are set in its annual Budget Report 

Page 31



3

and Medium-Term Financial Strategy, while Treasury Indicators are established in 
this report (Appendix 3). 
The Act requires the Court of Common Council to set out its treasury strategy for 
borrowing (section 7 of this report) and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy 
(section 8 of this report). The Investment Strategy sets out the City’s policies for 
managing its investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those 
investments. 

The suggested strategy for 2020/21 in respect of the required aspects of the treasury 
management function is based upon the treasury officers’ views on interest rates, 
supplemented with leading market forecasts provided by the City’s treasury adviser, 
Link Asset Services, Treasury Solutions.  

The strategy covers:

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators
 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy
 the current treasury position
 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the City
 prospects for interest rates
 the borrowing strategy
 policy on borrowing in advance of need
 debt rescheduling
 the investment strategy
 creditworthiness policy
 policy on use of external service providers.

These elements cover the requirements of the local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, the MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and the MHCLG Investment Guidance.

1.5. Balanced Budget Requirement

It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, for the City Fund to produce a balanced budget.  In particular, Section 32 
requires a local authority to calculate its budget requirement for each financial year 
to include the revenue costs that flow from capital financing decisions. 

2. Capital Expenditure, Capital Financing and the Underlying Borrowing 
Requirement

The City’s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of treasury management 
activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans.

The City’s capital expenditure plans in respect of its local authority functions (the 
City Fund) are detailed in the 2020/21 Budget Report and Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy, which also contains the City’s Prudential Indicators.  The Prudential 

Page 32



4

Indicators summarise the City Fund’s annual capital expenditure and financing plans 
for the medium term.

Estimate of Capital Expenditure and Financing (City Fund)

 Table 1 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
 £m £m £m £m £m
Capital Expenditure:
Non-HRA 67.2 74.8 102.0 288.7 304.5
HRA 10.9 16.2 48.7 44.5 18.4
Total 78.1 91.0 150.7 333.2 322.9

Financed by:
Capital grants 15.8 24.1 37.8 43.4 24.7
Capital reserves 14.7 33.7 10.6 0.0 175.0
Revenue 47.6 33.2 61.3 19.2 12.8
Total 78.1 91.0 109.7 62.6 212.5

Net financing need: 0.0 0.0 41.0 270.6 110.4

The Prudential Indicators also establish the City Fund’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. 
It is essentially a measure of the City Fund’s indebtedness and so its underlying 
borrowing need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been 
paid for through a revenue or capital resource (the net financing need in Table 1), 
will increase the CFR.  

Estimate of the Capital Financing Requirement (City Fund)

 Table 2 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
 £m £m £m £m £m
Non-HRA 43.6 38.4 56.5 317.2 420.6
HRA 0.0 0.0 22.0 26.6 26.0
Total 43.6 38.4 78.5 343.8 446.6

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line 
with each asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets 
as they are used. The City’s MRP Policy is detailed in Appendix 3.

City’s Cash

The City also delivers capital expenditure outside of its capacity as a local authority, 
via City’s Cash. As with the City Fund, any capital expenditure which has not 
immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will increase the 

Page 33



5

City’s Cash borrowing requirement. Table 3 summarises the planned City’s Cash 
borrowing over the next few years.  

City’s Cash Borrowing

 Table 3 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
 £m £m £m £m £m
Borrowing £125m £250m £250m £450m £450m

As with the MRP for the City Fund, borrowing for City’s Cash will be reduced 
gradually over time through the application of a debt financing reserve as set out in 
the City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement (Appendix 9).

3. Current Portfolio Position

The City’s treasury portfolio position at 31 December 2019 comprised:

Treasury Portfolio
Actual Actual Current Current
31/03/19 31/03/19 31/12/19 31/12/19

Treasury investments £m % £m %
Banks £318.7 37% £448.8 39%
Building societies (rated) £50.0 6% £139.0 12%
Local authorities £15.0 2% £20.0 2%
Liquidity funds £317.2 37% £318.7 28%
Ultra-short dated bond funds £65.0 8% £65.0 6%
Short dated bond funds £100.0 12% £150.0 13%
Total treasury investments £865.9 100% £1,141.5 100%

Treasury external borrowing
Short term market debt (City’s Cash) £125.0 100%
Long term market debt (City’s Cash) £250.0 100%
Total external borrowing £125.0 100% £250.0 100%

The overall weighted average rate of return on investments was 1.42% as at 31 
December 2019 compared to 1.07% as at 31 March 2019.

4. Treasury Indicators for 2020/21 – 2022/23

Treasury Indicators (as set out in Appendix 3) are relevant for the purposes of setting 
an integrated treasury management strategy.  

5. Prospects for Interest Rates

The City of London has appointed Link Asset Services (Link) as its treasury advisor 
and part of their service is to assist the City to formulate a view on interest rates.  
Appendix 1 draws together a number of forecasts for both short term (Bank Rate – 
also known as “the Bank of England base rate”) and longer term interest rates and 

Page 34



6

Appendix 2 provides a more detailed economic commentary.  The following table 
and accompanying text below gives the Link central view.

Bank Rate
%

PWLB Borrowing Rates %
(including certainty rate adjustment)

5 year 10 years 25 year 50 year
Mar 2020 0.75 2.30 2.50 3.00 2.90
Jun 2020 0.75 2.30 2.50 3.00 2.90
Sep 2020 0.75 2.40 2.60 3.10 3.00
Dec 2020 0.75 2.40 2.60 3.20 3.10
Mar 2021 1.00 2.50 2.70 3.30 3.20
Jun 2021 1.00 2.60 2.80 3.40 3.30
Sep 2021 1.00 2.70 2.90 3.50 3.40
Dec 2021 1.00 2.80 3.00 3.60 3.50
Mar 2022 1.00 2.90 3.10 3.70 3.60
Jun 2022 1.25 2.90 3.10 3.80 3.70
Sep 2022 1.25 3.00 3.30 3.80 3.70
Dec 2022 1.25 3.00 3.20 3.90 3.80
Mar 2023 1.25 3.10 3.30 3.90 3.80

The above forecasts have been based on an assumption that there is an agreed 
deal on Brexit, including agreement on the terms of trade between the UK and EU 
at some point in time.  The result of the General Election has removed some 
uncertainty but it is still unclear whether agreement will be reached with the EU on 
a trade deal before December 2020. 

The Monetary Policy Committee’s (MPC) decision to leave Bank Rate unchanged 
at 0.75% during 2019 is in the context of ongoing uncertainty over Brexit. At its 
November meeting the MPC registered concerns over the outlook for the domestic 
economy and global growth. If those concerns were to materialise then the MPC 
would likely cut Bank Rate; if they dissipate, interest rates would probably rise at a 
“gradual pace and to a limited extent”. 

Bond yields continued to fall to extraordinarily low levels in the first half of 2019 as 
expectations of a recession in the world’s largest economy, the US, mounted and 
against a general background of a downturn in global economic growth combined 
with low inflation. Eurozone bond yields have been negative and, at times, the US 
yield curve has inverted (ten year yields have been below shorter term yields). This 
situation has partially reversed since the autumn and if global growth and the US 
economy fare better than expected this year it is likely that investors will sell out of 
“risk-off” assets such as US treasuries and UK gilts, which will increase yields. The 
overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, to 
rise, albeit gently. 

From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to 
exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging 
market developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility could 
occur at any time during the forecast period. Therefore, economic and interest rate 
forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing on the UK. 
The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable to further amendment 
depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets transpire 
over the next year. 

Page 35



7

Investment and borrowing rates

 Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2020/21 with little increase in 
the following two years. However, if major progress was made with an agreed 
Brexit, then there is upside potential for earning.

 PWLB borrowing interest rates were on a major falling trend during the first half 
of 2019-20 but then increased by 100 basis points on 9 October 2019, when HM 
Treasury increased the margin added to the prevailing gilt rate that is used to 
determine the interest rate on new loans to local authorities. As a result the gap 
between longer term borrowing rates and investment rates has materially 
widened, and in the long term Bank Rate is not expected to rise above 2.5%.

 Because borrowing rates are expected to be higher than investment rates, any 
new borrowing undertaken by the City will have a “cost of carry” (the difference 
between higher borrowing costs and low investment returns) in the near term 
which will most likely incur a revenue cost. 

6. Interest Rate Exposure

The revised Prudential Code removes the requirement to set treasury indicators for 
fixed and variable interest rate exposure. Instead the City is required to set out how 
it intends to manage interest rate exposure.

This organisation will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a 
view to containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance 
with the amounts provided in its budgetary arrangements and management 
information arrangements. 

It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved instruments, methods and 
techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at 
the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of 
unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest 
rates. 

7. Borrowing Strategy 

The borrowing strategy is developed from the capital plans and prospect for interest 
rates outlined in sections 2 and 5 above, respectively. 

For both the City Fund and City’s Cash, the capital expenditure plans create 
borrowing requirements and the borrowing strategy aims to make sure that sufficient 
cash is available to ensure the delivery of the City’s capital programme as planned.

The City can choose to manage the borrowing requirements through obtaining 
external debt from a variety of sources; through the temporary use of its own cash 
resources (“internal borrowing”); or via a combination of these methods.

7.1. City Fund

The City Fund has a positive Capital Financing Requirement, and this is expected 
to grow in the next few years (see table 2 above). As the City Fund currently has no 

Page 36



8

external debt, it is therefore maintaining an under-borrowed position which is 
forecast to increase if the City Fund does not acquire external debt.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need is being managed within internal resources, i.e. cash 
supporting the City Fund’s reserves, balances and cash flow is being used as a 
temporary measure. This strategy is prudent because it helps the City Fund to 
minimise borrowing costs in the near term and because it leads to lower investment 
balances which reduces counterparty risk. Against these advantages the City is 
conscious of the increased exposure to interest rate risk that is inherent in internal 
borrowing (i.e. the risk that the City Fund will need to replace internal borrowing with 
external borrowing in the future when interest rates are high).

Therefore, against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, 
caution will be adopted with the 2020/21 treasury operations. The Chamberlain will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances. For example,

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short 
term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession 
or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowing will be postponed.

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long and 
short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an 
increase in world economic activity, or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then 
the portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding will be 
drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next 
few years.

Any decisions will be reported to the Finance Committee and the Court of Common 
Council at the next available opportunity.

The City must set two treasury indicators representing the upper limits for the total 
amount of external debt for City Fund. These limits are required under the Prudential 
Code in order to ensure borrowing is affordable and is consistent with the City Fund’s 
capital expenditure requirements.

 The operational boundary for external debt should represent the most likely 
scenario for external borrowing. It is acceptable for actual borrowing to deviate 
from this estimate from time to time. The proposed limit is set to mirror the 
estimated CFR for the forthcoming year and the following two years.

 The authorised limit for external debt is the maximum threshold for external 
debt for over 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23. This limit is required by the Local 
Government Act 2003 and is set above the operational boundary to ensure that 
the City is not restricted in the event of a debt restructuring opportunity.

The proposed limits for 2020/21 are set out in Appendix 3.

The City is also required to set a treasury indicator in respect of the maturity structure 
of external debt to ensure that the external debt portfolio remains appropriately 
balanced over the long term. Under the revised Treasury Management Code of 

Page 37



9

Practice, the City is required to set limit for all borrowing (i.e. both fixed rate and 
variable debt), and the proposed limits are detailed in Appendix 3.

7.2. City’s Cash

The capital expenditure plans for City’s Cash have also created a borrowing 
requirement. During 2019/20, this financing need was met through the issuance of 
£250m market debt which was secured through a private placement exercise. A 
further £200m of market debt has been arranged for drawdown in 2021/22. It is not 
anticipated that any new external borrowing will be acquired by City’s Cash. 
However, the Chamberlain will keep this position under review and in doing so will 
have regard for liquidity requirements, interest rate risk and the implications for the 
revenue budget.

The regulatory framework established through the CIPFA professional codes and 
MHCLG guidance pertains to the City’s local authority function, the City Fund. To 
facilitate effective management of the City’s Cash borrowing requirement, this 
organisation has adopted the City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement (Appendix 9), 
which sets out the principles for effectively managing the risks arising from borrowing 
on behalf of City’s Cash. Under this framework, the City has resolved to establish 
two further treasury indicators, which will help the organisation to ensure its 
borrowing plans remain prudent, affordable and sustainable:

 Estimates of financing costs to net revenue stream. This indicator is given as 
a percentage and establishes the amount of the City’s Cash net revenue that is 
used to service borrowing costs. 

 Overall borrowing limits. This indicator represents an upper limit for external 
debt which officers cannot exceed. 

The proposed indictors for 2020/21 are set out in Appendix 3 alongside the City 
Fund treasury indicators.

7.3. Policy on borrowing in advance of need 

The City will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance 
will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates and will 
be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and 
that the City can ensure the security of such funds. 

7.4. Debt rescheduling

The City does not anticipate any debt rescheduling in the near term. However, 
should any opportunities for debt rescheduling arise (through a decrease in 
borrowing rates, for instance), such cases will need to be considered in the context 
of the current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt repayment (i.e. any 
penalties incurred). 

The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 
 the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;

Page 38



10

 enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 
balance of volatility).

All rescheduling will be reported to the Court of Common Council, at the earliest 
meeting following its action.

7.5. Sources of borrowing

Historically, the main source of borrowing for UK local authorities has been the 
PWLB. On 9 October 2019, the Government increased the margin over gilt yields 
payable on new loans by local authority borrowers by 100 basis points to 180 basis 
points. Local authorities have recourse to other sources of external borrowing 
including financial institutions, other local authorities and the Municipal Bonds 
Agency. The extent to which any of these options proves cheaper than the PWLB 
Certainty Rate is still evolving but will be kept under review. 

8. Annual Investment Strategy

8.1. Investment Policy

The City of London’s investment policy will have regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance 
on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”), the revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectorial Guidance 
Notes 2017 (“the CIPFA TM Code”) and CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance 
Notes 2018.  

The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both 
financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial 
investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial 
investments, (e.g. commercial property), are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a 
separate report).

The City’s investment priorities are:
 
(a) security;  and 

(b) liquidity. 

The City will also aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. The risk appetite of the 
City is low in order to give priority to the security of its investments.

The borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful 
and the City will not engage in such activity.

In accordance with the above guidance from the MHCLG  and CIPFA, and in order 
to minimise the risk to investments, the City applies minimum acceptable credit 
criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also 
enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings 
used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and Long Term ratings.

Page 39



11

Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important 
to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro 
basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions 
operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 
opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration, the City will engage with its 
advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and 
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. 

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 
such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most 
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in Appendix 
4 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories.

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and 
subject to a maturity limit of one year.

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be 
for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments 
which require greater consideration by members and officers before being 
authorised for use. Once an investment is classed as non-specified, it 
remains non-specified all the way through to maturity i.e. an 18-month 
deposit would still be non-specified even if it has only 11 months left until 
maturity.

The City will also set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for 
longer than 365 days (see Appendix 3).

8.2. Creditworthiness policy 

The primary principle governing the City’s investment criteria is the security of its 
investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key 
consideration.  After this main principle, the City will ensure that:

 It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will invest 
in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and 
monitoring their security.

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  For this purpose it will set out 
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may prudently 
be committed.  These procedures also apply to the City’s prudential indicators 
covering the maximum principal sums invested.

The Chamberlain will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the following 
criteria and will revise these criteria and submit them to the Financial Investment 
Board for approval as necessary.  These criteria are separate to those which 
determine which types of investment instruments are classified as either specified 
or non-specified as it provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high 
quality which the City may use, rather than defining what types of investment 
instruments are to be used.

Page 40



12

Regular meetings are held involving the Chamberlain, the Deputy Chamberlain, 
Corporate Treasurer and members of the Treasury team, where the suitability of 
prospective counterparties and the optimum duration for lending is discussed and 
agreed. 

Credit rating information is supplied by Link Asset Services, our treasury advisors, 
on all active counterparties that comply with the criteria below.  Any counterparty 
failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty (dealing) list.  Any 
rating changes, rating Watches (notification of a likely change), rating Outlooks 
(notification of a possible longer-term bias outside the central rating view) are 
provided to officers almost immediately after they occur and this information is 
considered before dealing.  For instance, a negative rating Watch applying to a 
counterparty would result in a temporary suspension, which will be reviewed in light 
of market conditions.  

All credit ratings will be monitored daily. The City is alerted to credit warnings and 
changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness 
service. 

The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment counterparties (both 
specified and non-specified investments) are:

 Banks 1 – good credit quality – the City will only use banks which:

(i) are UK banks; and/or
(ii) are non-UK and domiciled in a country which has a minimum sovereign long-

term rating of AAA (Fitch rating) 

and have, as a minimum the following Fitch, credit rating:

(i) Short-term – F1
(ii) Long-term – A

 Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK banks – Royal Bank of Scotland ring-fenced 
operations.  This bank can be included if it continues to be part nationalised, or 
it meets the ratings in Banks 1 above.

 Banks 3 – The City’s own banker (Lloyds Banking Group) for transactional 
purposes if the bank falls below the above criteria, although in this case, 
balances will be minimised in both monetary size and duration.

 Bank subsidiary and treasury operation -   The City will use these where the 
parent bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary ratings 
outlined above.  This criteria is particularly relevant to City Re Limited, the City’s 
Captive insurance company, which deposits funds with bank subsidiaries in 
Guernsey.

 Building Societies – The City may use all societies which:

(i) have assets in excess of £10bn; or
(ii) meet the ratings for banks outlined above

Page 41



13

 Money Market Funds CNAV* – with minimum credit ratings of AAA/mmf

 Money Market Funds (MMFs) LVNAV* – with minimum credit ratings of 
AAA/mmf

 Money Market Funds (MMFs) VNAV* – with minimum credit ratings of AAA/mmf

 Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least AAA/f (previously 
referred to as Enhanced Cash Plus Funds)

 Short Dated Bond Fund – These funds typically do not obtain their own 
standalone credit rating. The funds will invest in a wide array of investment grade 
instruments, the City will undertake all necessary due diligence to ensure a 
minimum credit quality across the funds underlying composition is set out within 
initial Investment Manager Agreements and actively monitor the on-going credit 
quality of any fund invested.

 UK Government – including government gilts and the debt management agency 
deposit facility.

 Local authorities

A limit of £500m will be applied to the use of non-specified investments.

*European Money Market Reform. Under EU money market reforms implemented 
in 2018/19, three new classifications of money market funds have been created:

 Constant Net Asset Value (“CNAV”) MMFs – must invest 99.5% of their 
assets into government debt instruments and are permitted to maintain a 
constant net asset value.

 Low Volatility Net Asset Value (“LVNAV”) MMFs – permitted to maintain a 
constant dealing net asset value provided that certain criteria are met, 
including that the market net asset value of the fund does not deviate from 
the dealing net asset value by more than 20 basis points.

Variable Net Asset Value (“VNAV”) MMFs – price assets using market pricing and 
therefore offer a fluctuating dealing net asset value

8.3. Use of additional information other than credit ratings. 

Additional requirements under the Code require the City to supplement credit rating 
information.  Whilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of credit 
ratings to provide a pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use, additional 
operational market information will be applied before making any specific investment 
decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.  This additional market information 
(for example Credit Default Swaps, negative rating Watches/Outlooks) will be 
applied to compare the relative security of differing investment counterparties

8.4. Time and monetary limits applying to investments. 

The time and monetary limits for institutions on the City’s counterparty list are set 
out in Appendix 5 as at 31st December 2019. The City may add managers to this list 
as appropriate.

Page 42



14

8.5. UK banks – ring fencing. 

The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and Medium-
sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to separate core retail 
banking services from their investment and international banking activities by 1st 
January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. Whilst smaller banks with less than 
£25bn in deposits are exempt, they can choose to opt up. Several banks are very 
close to the threshold already and so may come into scope in the future regardless.

Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global financial 
crisis. It mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from investment 
banking, in order to improve the resilience and resolvability of banks by changing 
their structure. In general, simpler, activities offered from within a ring-fenced bank, 
(RFB), will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day core transactions, whilst more 
complex and “riskier” activities are required to be housed in a separate entity, a non-
ring-fenced bank, (NRFB). This is intended to ensure that an entity’s core activities 
are not adversely affected by the acts or omissions of other members of its group.

While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, the 
fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The City will continue to assess the 
new-formed entities in the same way that it does others and those with sufficiently 
high ratings, (and any other metrics considered), will be considered for investment 
purposes.

8.6. Country limits

The City has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from countries 
with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA (Fitch) or equivalent.  The country 
limits list, as shown in Appendix 6, will be added to or deducted from by officers 
should individual country ratings change in accordance with this policy.  It is 
proposed that the UK (which is currently rated as AA) will be excluded from this 
stipulated minimum sovereign rating requirement. 

8.7. Investment Strategy

In-house funds:  The City’s in-house managed funds are both cash-flow derived 
and also represented by core balances which can be made available for investment 
over a 2-3 year period.  Investments will accordingly be made with reference to the 
core balance and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest 
rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 months). Where cash sums can be identified 
that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed. 

Investment returns expectations:  On the assumption that the UK and EU agree 
a Brexit deal including the terms of trade by the end of 2020 or soon after, then Bank 
Rate is forecast to increase only slowly over the next few years to reach 1.00% by 
quarter 2, 2021.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are:

 2019/20 0.75%
 2020/21 0.75%
 2021/22 1.00%

Page 43



15

 2022/23 1.00%

Link consider that the overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is 
probably to the downside due to weight of uncertainties over Brexit as well as a 
softening global economic picture. The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate 
and shorter term PWLB rates are probably similarly to the downside. If a Brexit deal 
is agreed with the EU and approved by Parliament, the outlook for economic growth 
is likely to look more positive and increases in Bank Rate will be more likely.

9. Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit 

Total principal funds invested for greater than 365 days are subject to a limit, set 
with regard to the City’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for an early 
sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year end.
The Board is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit:

Maximum principal sums invested for more than 365 days (up to three years)
2020/21

£M
2021/22

£M
2022/23

£M
Principal sums invested >365 days 500 500 500

10. Investment performance benchmarking

The City will monitor investment performance against Bank Rate and 3- and 6-month 
London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID).

11. End of year investment report

At the end of the financial year, the City will report on its investment activity as part 
of its Annual Treasury Report. 

12. External fund managers

A proportion of the City’s funds, amounting to £533.7m as at 31 December 2019, 
are externally managed on a discretionary basis by the following fund managers:

 Aberdeen Standard Investments
 CCLA Investment Management Limited
 Deutsche Asset Management (UK) Limited
 Federated Investors (UK) LLP
 Invesco Global Asset Management Limited 
 Legal and General Investment Management
 Payden & Rygel Global Limited
 Royal London Asset Management  

The City’s external fund managers will comply with the Annual Investment Strategy, 
and the agreements between the City and the fund managers additionally stipulate 
guidelines and duration and other limits in order to contain and control risk. 

The credit criteria to be used for the selection of the Money Market fund manager(s) 
is based on Fitch Ratings and is AAA/mmf.  The Ultra-Short Dated Bond fund 
managers (including the Payden & Rygel Sterling Reserve Fund, Federated Sterling 

Page 44



16

Cash Plus Fund and Aberdeen Standard Investments Ultra Short Duration Sterling 
Fund) are all rated by Standard and Poor’s as AAA.

The City also uses two Short Dated Bond funds managed by Legal and General 
Investment Management and Royal London Asset Management. Both funds are 
unrated (as is typical of these instruments). The funds offer significant diversification 
by being invested in a wide range of investment grade instruments, rated BBB and 
above and limiting exposure to any one debt issuer or issuance.

13. Policy on the use of external service providers

The City uses Link Asset Services, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury 
management advisers.

The City recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains 
with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed 
upon its external service providers. 

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. 
The City will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which 
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to 
regular review. 

14. Scheme of Delegation

Please see Appendix 7.

15. Role of the Section 151 officer

Please see Appendix 8.

16. Training

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  The training needs of members and treasury management officers 
are periodically reviewed. Training was most recently undertaken by Members in 
February 2019.  

APPENDICES 
1. Interest Rate Forecasts 2020-2023

2. Link Asset Services view on Economic Background 

3. Treasury Indicators 2020/21 – 2022/23 and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement

4. Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty Risk 
Management 

Page 45



17

5. Current Approved Counterparties 

6. Approved Countries for Investments

7. Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation

8. The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer

9. City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement

Page 46



18

APPENDIX 1
LINK INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 2020 – 2023

 
Note: The current PWLB rates and forecast shown above have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective since 1st 

November 2012. 

P
age 47



19

APPENDIX  2 
LINK ASSET SERVICES VIEW ON ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 

UK.  Brexit. 2019 has been a year of upheaval on the political front as Theresa May resigned 
as Prime Minister to be replaced by Boris Johnson on a platform of the UK leaving the EU on 
31 October 2019, with or without a deal.  However, MPs blocked leaving on that date and the 
EU agreed an extension to 31 January 2020. In late October, MPs approved an outline of a 
Brexit deal to enable the UK to leave the EU on 31 January. Now that the Conservative 
Government has gained a large overall majority in the general election on 12 December, this 
outline deal will be passed by Parliament by that date.  However, there will still be much 
uncertainty as the detail of a trade deal will need to be negotiated by the current end of the 
transition period in December 2020, which the Prime Minister has pledged he will not extend. 
This could prove to be an unrealistically short timetable for such major negotiations that leaves 
open two possibilities; one, the need for an extension of negotiations, probably two years, or, 
a no deal Brexit in December 2020. 

GDP growth has taken a hit from Brexit uncertainty during 2019; quarter three 2019 surprised 
on the upside by coming in at +0.4% q/q, +1.1% y/y.  However, the peak of Brexit uncertainty 
during the final quarter appears to have suppressed quarterly growth to probably around zero. 
The economy is likely to tread water in 2020, with tepid growth around about 1% until there is 
more certainty after the trade deal deadline is passed.

While the Bank of England went through the routine of producing another quarterly Inflation 
Report, (now renamed the Monetary Policy Report), on 7 November, it is very questionable 
how much all the writing and numbers were worth when faced with the uncertainties of where 
the UK will be after the general election. The Bank made a change in their Brexit assumptions 
to now include a deal being eventually passed.  Possibly the biggest message that was worth 
taking note of from the Monetary Policy Report, was an increase in concerns among MPC 
members around weak global economic growth and the potential for Brexit uncertainties to 
become entrenched and so delay UK economic recovery.  Consequently, the MPC voted 7-2 
to maintain Bank Rate at 0.75% but two members were sufficiently concerned to vote for an 
immediate Bank Rate cut to 0.5%. The MPC warned that if global growth does not pick up or 
Brexit uncertainties intensify, then a rate cut was now more likely. Conversely, if risks do 
recede, then a more rapid recovery of growth will require gradual and limited rate rises. The 
speed of recovery will depend on the extent to which uncertainty dissipates over the final 
terms for trade between the UK and EU and by how much global growth rates pick up. The 
Bank revised its inflation forecasts down – to 1.25% in 2019, 1.5% in 2020, and 2.0% in 2021; 
hence, the MPC views inflation as causing little concern in the near future.

The MPC meeting of 19 December repeated the previous month’s vote of 7-2 to keep Bank 
Rate on hold. Their key view was that there was currently ‘no evidence about the extent to 
which policy uncertainties among companies and households had declined’ i.e. they were 
going to sit on their hands and see how the economy goes in the next few months. The two 
members who voted for a cut were concerned that the labour market was faltering. On the 
other hand, there was a clear warning in the minutes that the MPC were concerned that 
“domestic unit labour costs have continued to grow at rates above those consistent with 
meeting the inflation target in the medium term”.

If economic growth were to weaken considerably, the MPC has relatively little room to make 
a big impact with Bank Rate still only at 0.75%.  It would therefore, probably suggest that it 
would be up to the Chancellor to provide help to support growth by way of a fiscal boost by 

Page 48



20

e.g. tax cuts, increases in the annual expenditure budgets of government departments and 
services and expenditure on infrastructure projects, to boost the economy. The Government 
has already made moves in this direction and it made significant promises in its election 
manifesto to increase government spending by up to £20bn p.a., (this would add about 1% to 
GDP growth rates), by investing primarily in infrastructure. This is likely to be announced in 
the next Budget, probably in February 2020. The Chancellor has also amended the fiscal rules 
in November to allow for an increase in government expenditure. 
 
As for inflation itself, CPI has been hovering around the Bank of England’s target of 2% 
during 2019, but fell again in both October and November to a three-year low of 1.5%. It is 
likely to remain close to or under 2% over the next two years and so, it does not pose any 
immediate concern to the MPC at the current time. However, if there was a hard or no deal 
Brexit, inflation could rise towards 4%, primarily because of imported inflation on the back of 
a weakening pound.

With regard to the labour market, growth in numbers employed has been quite resilient 
through 2019 until the three months to September where it fell by 58,000.  However, there 
was an encouraging pick up again in the three months to October to growth of 24,000, which 
showed that the labour market was not about to head into a major downturn. The 
unemployment rate held steady at a 44-year low of 3.8% on the Independent Labour 
Organisation measure in October.  Wage inflation has been steadily falling from a high point 
of 3.9% in July to 3.5% in October (3-month average regular pay, excluding bonuses).  This 
meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates higher than CPI inflation), earnings grew by about 
2.0%. As the UK economy is very much services sector driven, an increase in household 
spending power is likely to feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of 
economic growth in the coming months. The other message from the fall in wage growth is 
that employers are beginning to find it easier to hire suitable staff, indicating that supply 
pressure in the labour market is easing.

USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a temporary boost in 
consumption in that year which generated an upturn in the rate of growth to a robust 2.9% 
y/y.  Growth in 2019 has been falling after a strong start in quarter 1 at 3.1%, (annualised 
rate), to 2.0% in quarter 2 and then 2.1% in quarter 3.  The economy looks likely to have 
maintained a growth rate similar to quarter 3 into quarter 4; fears of a recession have largely 
dissipated. The strong growth in employment numbers during 2018 has weakened during 
2019, indicating that the economy had been cooling, while inflationary pressures were also 
weakening.  However, CPI inflation rose from 1.8% to 2.1% in November, a one year high, 
but this was singularly caused by a rise in gasoline prices. 

The Fed finished its series of increases in rates to 2.25 – 2.50% in December 2018.  In July 
2019, it cut rates by 0.25% as a ‘midterm adjustment’ but flagged up that this was not intended  
to be seen as the start of a series of cuts to ward off a downturn in growth. It also ended its 
programme of quantitative tightening in August, (reducing its holdings of treasuries etc.).  It 
then cut rates by 0.25% again in September and by another 0.25% in its October meeting to 
1.50 – 1.75%. At its September meeting it also said it was going to start buying Treasuries 
again, although this was not to be seen as a resumption of quantitative easing but rather an 
exercise to relieve liquidity pressures in the repo market. Despite those protestations, this still 
means that the Fed is again expanding its balance sheet holdings of government debt. In the 
first month, it will buy $60bn, whereas it had been reducing its balance sheet by $50bn per 
month during 2019. As it will be buying only short-term (under 12 months) Treasury bills, it is 
technically correct that this is not quantitative easing (which is purchase of long term debt). 
The Fed left rates unchanged in December.  However, the accompanying statement was more 

Page 49



21

optimistic about the future course of the economy so this would indicate that further cuts are 
unlikely.

Investor confidence has been badly rattled by the progressive ramping up of increases in 
tariffs President Trump has made on Chinese imports and China has responded with 
increases in tariffs on American imports.  This trade war is seen as depressing US, Chinese 
and world growth.  In the EU, it is also particularly impacting Germany as exports of goods 
and services are equivalent to 46% of total GDP. It will also impact developing countries 
dependent on exporting commodities to China. 
However, in November / December, progress has been made on agreeing a phase one deal 
between the US and China to roll back some of the tariffs; this gives some hope of resolving 
this dispute.

EUROZONE.  Growth has been slowing from +1.8 % during 2018 to around half of that in 
2019.  Growth was +0.4% q/q (+1.2% y/y) in quarter 1, +0.2% q/q (+1.2% y/y) in quarter 2 
and then +0.2% q/q, +1.1% in quarter 3; there appears to be little upside potential in the near 
future. German GDP growth has been struggling to stay in positive territory in 2019 and fell 
by -0.1% in quarter 2; industrial production was down 4% y/y in June with car production down 
10% y/y.  Germany would be particularly vulnerable to a no deal Brexit depressing exports 
further and if President Trump imposes tariffs on EU produced cars.  

The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its programme of quantitative easing purchases 
of debt in December 2018, which then meant that the central banks in the US, UK and EU 
had all ended the phase of post financial crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial 
markets by quantitative easing purchases of debt.  However, the downturn in EZ growth in 
the second half of 2018 and into 2019, together with inflation falling well under the upper limit 
of its target range of 0 to 2%, (but it aims to keep it near to 2%), has prompted the ECB to 
take new measures to stimulate growth.  At its March meeting it said that it expected to leave 
interest rates at their present levels “at least through the end of 2019”, but that was of little 
help to boosting growth in the near term. Consequently, it announced a third round of 
TLTROs; this provides banks with cheap borrowing every three months from September 2019 
until March 2021 that means that, although they will have only a two-year maturity, the Bank 
was making funds available until 2023, two years later than under its previous policy. As with 
the last round, the new TLTROs will include an incentive to encourage bank lending, and they 
will be capped at 30% of a bank’s eligible loans. However, since then, the downturn in EZ and 
world growth has gathered momentum; at its meeting on 12 September it cut its deposit rate 
further into negative territory, from -0.4% to -0.5%, and announced a resumption of 
quantitative easing purchases of debt for an unlimited period. At its October meeting it 
said these purchases would start in November at €20bn per month - a relatively small amount 
compared to the previous buying programme. It also increased the maturity of the third round 
of TLTROs from two to three years. However, it is doubtful whether this loosening of monetary 
policy will have much impact on growth and, unsurprisingly, the ECB stated that governments 
would need to help stimulate growth by ‘growth friendly’ fiscal policy. 

There were no policy changes in the December meeting, which was chaired for the first time 
by the new President of the ECB, Christine Lagarde. However, the outlook continued to be 
down beat about the economy; this makes it likely there will be further monetary policy 
stimulus to come in 2020. She did also announce a thorough review of how the ECB conducts 
monetary policy, including the price stability target. This review is likely to take all of 2020.

On the political front, Austria, Spain and Italy have been in the throes of forming coalition 
governments with some unlikely combinations of parties i.e. this raises questions around 

Page 50



22

their likely endurance. The latest results of German state elections has put further pressure 
on the frail German CDU/SDP coalition government and on the current leadership of the CDU. 
The results of the Spanish general election in November have not helped the prospects of 
forming a stable coalition.

CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated 
rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs 
to be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to 
address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and shadow banking systems. In 
addition, there still needs to be a greater switch from investment in industrial capacity, property 
construction and infrastructure to consumer goods production.

JAPAN - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get 
inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making 
little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. 

WORLD GROWTH.  Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing 
globalisation i.e. countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they 
have an economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world.  This has 
boosted worldwide productivity and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also depressed 
inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over the last thirty years, 
which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has unbalanced the world economy. 
The Chinese government has targeted achieving major world positions in specific key sectors 
and products, especially high tech areas and production of rare earth minerals used in high 
tech products.  It is achieving this by massive financial support, (i.e. subsidies), to state owned 
firms, government directions to other firms, technology theft, restrictions on market access by 
foreign firms and informal targets for the domestic market share of Chinese producers in the 
selected sectors. This is regarded as being unfair competition that is putting western firms at 
an unfair disadvantage or even putting some out of business. It is also regarded with suspicion 
on the political front as China is an authoritarian country that is not averse to using economic 
and military power for political advantage. The current trade war between the US and China 
therefore needs to be seen against that backdrop.  It is, therefore, likely that we are heading 
into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of 
western countries from dependence on China to supply products.  This is likely to produce 
a backdrop in the coming years of weak global growth and so weak inflation.  Central banks 
are, therefore, likely to come under more pressure to support growth by looser 
monetary policy measures and this will militate against central banks increasing 
interest rates. 

The trade war between the US and China is a major concern to financial markets due to the 
synchronised general weakening of growth in the major economies of the world, compounded 
by fears that there could even be a recession looming up in the US, though this is probably 
overblown. These concerns resulted in government bond yields in the developed world 
falling significantly during 2019. If there were a major worldwide downturn in growth, central 
banks in most of the major economies will have limited ammunition available, in terms of 
monetary policy measures, when rates are already very low in most countries, (apart from the 
US).  There are also concerns about how much distortion of financial markets has already 
occurred with the current levels of quantitative easing purchases of debt by central banks and 
the use of negative central bank rates in some countries. The latest PMI survey statistics of 
economic health for the US, UK, EU and China have all been predicting a downturn in growth; 
this confirms investor sentiment that the outlook for growth during the year ahead is weak.

Page 51



23

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.3 are predicated 
on an assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the 
EU.  On this basis, while GDP growth is likely to be subdued in 2019 and 2020 due to all the 
uncertainties around Brexit depressing consumer and business confidence, an agreement on 
the detailed terms of a trade deal  is likely to lead to a boost to the rate of growth in subsequent 
years.  This could, in turn, increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause the 
Bank of England to resume a series of gentle increases in Bank Rate.  Just how fast, and how 
far, those increases will occur and rise to, will be data dependent. The forecasts in this report 
assume a modest recovery in the rate and timing of stronger growth and in the corresponding 
response by the Bank in raising rates.

 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit in December 2020, it is likely that the 
Bank of England would take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help 
economic growth deal with the adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to 
cause short to medium term gilt yields to fall. 

 If there were a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for 
a longer period and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. 
Quantitative easing could also be restarted by the Bank of England. It is also possible 
that the government could act to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal 
stimulus. 

The balance of risks to the UK
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably even, but 

dependent on a successful outcome of negotiations on a trade deal.
 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are 

broadly similarly to the downside. 
 In the event that a Brexit deal was agreed with the EU and approved by Parliament, 

the balance of risks to economic growth and to increases in Bank Rate is likely to 
change to the upside.

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now working in 
very different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  there has been a 
major increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing 
rates that have prevailed since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an 
economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult to determine 
definitively in this new environment, although central banks have made statements that they 
expect it to be much lower than before 2008. Central banks could therefore either over or 
under do increases in central interest rates.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include: 

 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the 
rate of growth.

 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise 
Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker 
than we currently anticipate. 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. In 2018, Italy was a major 
concern due to having a populist coalition government which made a lot of anti-
austerity and anti-EU noise.  However, in September 2019 there was a major change 
in the coalition governing Italy which has brought to power a much more EU friendly 

Page 52



24

government; this has eased the pressure on Italian bonds. Only time will tell whether 
this new coalition based on an unlikely alliance of two very different parties will endure. 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian banks.
 German minority government. In the German general election of September 2017, 

Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the 
fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-
immigration AfD party. The CDU has done badly in recent state elections but the SPD 
has done particularly badly and this has raised a major question mark over continuing 
to support the CDU. Angela Merkel has stepped down from being the CDU party leader 
but she intends to remain as Chancellor until 2021.

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Finland, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, 
Netherlands and Belgium also have vulnerable minority governments dependent on 
coalitions which could prove fragile. 

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU.  There has also been rising anti-immigration sentiment 
in Germany and France.

 In October 2019, the IMF issued a report on the World Economic Outlook which flagged 
up a synchronised slowdown in world growth.  However, it also flagged up that there 
was potential for a rerun of the 2008 financial crisis, but his time centred on the 
huge debt binge accumulated by corporations during the decade of low interest rates.  
This now means that there are corporates who would be unable to cover basic interest 
costs on some $19trn of corporate debt in major western economies, if world 
growth was to dip further than just a minor cooling.  This debt is mainly held by the 
shadow banking sector i.e. pension funds, insurers, hedge funds, asset managers etc., 
who, when there is $15trn of corporate and government debt now yielding negative 
interest rates, have been searching for higher returns in riskier assets. Much of this 
debt is only marginally above investment grade so any rating downgrade could force 
some holders into a fire sale, which would then depress prices further and so set off a 
spiral down. The IMF’s answer is to suggest imposing higher capital charges on lending 
to corporates and for central banks to regulate the investment operations of the shadow 
banking sector. In October 2019, the deputy Governor of the Bank of England also 
flagged up the dangers of banks and the shadow banking sector lending to corporates, 
especially highly leveraged corporates, which had risen back up to near pre-2008 
levels.    

 Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle 
East, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
 Brexit – if agreement was reached all round that removed all threats of economic and 

political disruption between the EU and the UK. 
 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate 

and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster 
than we currently expect. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt 
yields. 

Page 53



25

APPENDIX 3 
TREASURY INDICATORS 2020/21 – 2022/23 AND MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION 
STATEMENT

TABLE 1:  TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT  INDICATORS 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

actual probable 
outturn estimate estimate estimate

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Authorised Limit for external 
debt -  

Borrowing 143,592 138,355 178,458 443,757 546,639
other long-term liabilities 13,888 13,770 13,653 13,536 13,419
TOTAL 157,480 152,125 192,111 457,293 560,058

 
Operational Boundary for 
external debt - 

Borrowing 43,592 38,355 78,458 343,757 446,639
other long-term liabilities 13,888 13,770 13,653 13,536 13,419
TOTAL 57,480 52,125 92,111 357,293 460,058

 
Actual external debt* 0 0

Upper limit for total principal 
sums invested for over 365 days £300m £300m £500m £500m £500m

(per maturity date)
*Actual external debt at the end of the financial year

TABLE 2: Maturity structure of borrowing during 
2019/20 upper limit lower limit

- under 12 months 50% 0%
- 12 months and within 24 months 50% 0%
- 24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
- 5 years and within 10 years 75% 0%
- 10 years and above 100% 0%

TABLE 3:  CITY’S CASH 
BORROWING INDICATORS 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

actual probable 
outturn estimate estimate estimate

% % % % %

Estimates of financing costs to 
net revenue stream 0.4% 2.9% 4.2% 10.1% 12.1%

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Overall borrowing limits 125,000 250,000 250,000 450,000 450,000

Page 54



26

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) POLICY STATEMENT 2020/21

To ensure that capital expenditure funded by borrowing is ultimately financed, the City Fund 
is required to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) when the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) is positive. A positive CFR is indicative of an underlying need to borrow 
and will arise when capital expenditure is funded by ‘borrowing’, either external (loans from 
third parties) or internal (use of cash balances held by the City Fund).  

MHCLG regulations have been issued which require the Court of Common Council to approve 
an MRP Statement in advance of each year. The regulatory guidance recommends four 
options for local authorities. Options 1 and 2 relate to government supported borrowing prior 
to 2008. As the City Fund does not have any outstanding borrowing from this period, these 
options are not relevant. For any prudential borrowing undertaken after 2008, options 3 and 
4 apply: 

 Option 3: Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the 
assets, in accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any 
expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction);

 Option 4: Depreciation method – MRP will follow standard depreciation 
accounting procedures;

For any new borrowing under the prudential financing system, the City Fund will apply the 
asset life method over the useful economic life of the relevant assets. However, as loan 
repayments will commence in advance of the assets becoming operational, additional 
provision will be made in the early years so that MRP is at least equal to the amount of the 
loan principal repaid. This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over the 
approximate life of the assets.

As in previous years, the City will continue to apply a separate MRP policy for that portion of 
the CFR which has arisen through the funding of capital expenditure from cash received from 
long lease premiums which are deferred in accordance with accounting standards. This 
deferred income is released to revenue over the life of the leases to which it relates, typically 
between 125 and 250 years. 

The City’s MRP policy in respect of this form of internal borrowing is based on a mechanism 
to ensure that the deferred income used to finance capital expenditure is not then ‘used again’ 
when it is released to revenue.  The amount of the annual MRP is therefore to be equal to the 
amount of the deferred income released, resulting in an overall neutral impact on the bottom 
line. 

MRP will fall due in the year following the one in which the expenditure is incurred, or the year 
after the asset becomes operational.

The MRP liability for 2019/20 is £5,237k and is estimated at £979k for 2020/21

Page 55



27

APPENDIX 4

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMP 1) –  Credit  and Counterparty Risk 
Management  

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities 
up to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where appropriate.

 Minimum ‘High’ 
Credit Criteria Use

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility -- In-house

Term deposits – local authorities  -- In-house
Term deposits – banks and building societies, 
including part nationalised banks Short-term F1, Long-

term A, In-house

Term deposits – banks and building societies, 
including part nationalised banks Short-term F1, Long-

term A, Fund Managers

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA/mmf   (or 
equivalent)

In-house via Fund 
Managers

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA/mmf   (or 
equivalent)

In-house via Fund 
Managers

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA/mmf   (or 
equivalent)

In-house via Fund 
Managers

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Fund AAA/f (or equivalent) In-house via Fund 
Managers

UK Government Gilts UK Sovereign Rating In-house & Fund 
Managers

Treasury Bills UK Sovereign Rating Fund Managers

Sovereign Bond issues (other than the UK 
government) AAA Fund Managers

Page 56



28

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the Specified 
Investment criteria.  A maximum of £500m will be held in aggregate in non-specified investment.
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the  categories set out below. 

Minimum 
Credit

Criteria

Use Maximum Maximum
Maturity 
Period

Term deposits – other Las
(with maturities in excess
of one year)

- In-house £25m per 
LA

Three 
years

Term deposits, including
callable deposits – banks
and building societies (with 
maturities in excess of one 
year)

Long-term 
A,

Short-term 
F1,

In-house
and Fund 
Managers

£300m 
overall

Three 
years

Certificates of deposits 
issued by banks and building 
societies with maturities in 
excess of one year

Long-term 
A,

Short-term 
F1,

In-house on a 
buy-and-hold 
basis and fund 
managers

£50m 
overall

Three 
years

UK Government Gilts with 
maturities in excess of one 
year

AAA In-house on a 
buy-and-hold 
basis and fund 
managers

£50m 
overall

Three 
years

UK Index Linked Gilts AAA In-house on a 
buy-and-hold 
basis and fund 
managers

£50m
Overall

Three 
years

Short Dated Bond Funds -- In-house via Fund 
Managers

£100m per 
Fund

n/a*

*Short Dated Bonds Funds are buy and hold investments with no pre-determined maturity at 
time of funding, liquidity access is typically T + 3 or 4.

Page 57



29

APPENDIX 5
 APPROVED COUNTERPARTIES as at 31 DECEMBER 2019

BANKS AND THEIR WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 

FITCH 
RATINGS BANK*

LIMIT 
PER 

GROUP
DURATION

A+
A+

F1
F1

Barclays Bank PLC (NRFB)
Barclays Bank UK PLC (RFB) £100M Up to 3 

years

A F1 Goldman Sachs International Bank £100M Up to 3 
years

AA F1+ Handelsbanken PLC £100m Up to 3 
years

A+
A+

FI+
FI+

HSBC (RFB)
HSBC (NRFB) £100M Up to 3 

years

A
A+
A+

F1
F1
F1

Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets PLC (NRFB)
Lloyds Bank PLC (RFB)

Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB)
£150M Up to 3 

years

A
A+
A+

F1
F1
F1

NatWest Markets PLC (NRFB)
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)

Royal Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB)
£100M Up to 3 

years

A+ F1 Santander UK PLC (RFB) £100M Up to 3 
years

*Under the ring-fencing initiative, the largest UK banks are now legally required to separate 
the core retail business into a ring-fenced bank (RFB) and to house their complex 
investment activities into a non-ring-fenced bank (NRFB). See section 8.2 above for further 
details.

BUILDING SOCIETIES

FITCH 
RATINGS BUILDING SOCIETY ASSETS LIMIT PER 

GROUP DURATION

A F1 Nationwide £238Bn £120M Up to 3 years

A- F1 Yorkshire £43Bn £20M Up to 1 year

A- F1 Coventry £46Bn £20M Up to 1 year

A- F1 Skipton £23Bn £20M Up to 1 year

A- F1 Leeds £19Bn £20M Up to 1 year

Page 58



30

MONEY MARKET FUNDS

FITCH RATINGS MONEY MARKET FUNDS
Limit of £100M per fund

DURATION

AAA/mmf CCLA Liquid

AAA/mmf Federated Short-Term Sterling Prime Fund* Liquid

AAA/mmf Aberdeen Sterling Liquidity Fund Liquid

AAA/mmf Invesco Liquid

AAA/mmf Deutsche Liquidity Fund Liquid

ULTRA SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS

FITCH 
RATINGS
 (or equivalent)

ULTRA SHORT DATED BOND 
FUNDS

Limit of £100M per fund

DURATION

AAA/f Payden Sterling Reserve Fund Liquid

AAA/f Federated Sterling Cash Plus Fund* Liquid

AAA/f Aberdeen Standard Investments Short 
Duration Managed Liquidity Fund**

Liquid

*A combined limit of £100m applies to balances across the Money Market Fund 
and Ultra Short Dated Bond Fund both managed by Federated
Standard

SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS

FITCH 
RATINGS
 (or equivalent)

SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS
Limit of £100M per fund

DURATION

- Legal and General Short Dated Sterling Corporate Bond 
Index Fund Liquid

- Royal London Investment Grade Short Dated Credit 
Fund Liquid

Page 59



31

FOREIGN BANKS
(with a presence in London)

FITCH 
RATINGS COUNTRY AND BANK LIMIT PER 

GROUP DURATION

AA-

AA-

F1+

F1+

AUSTRALIA

Australia and New Zealand Banking 
Group Ltd

National Australia Bank Ltd

£100M

£100M

Up to 3 years

Up to 3 years

AA-

AA-

AA-

F1+

F1+

F1+

CANADA

Bank of Montreal

Royal Bank of Canada

Toronto-Dominion Bank

£100M

£100M

£100M

Up to 3 years

Up to 3 years

Up to 3 years

A+ F1+

GERMANY

Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen 
Girozentrale £100M Up to 3 years

AA- F1+

NETHERLANDS

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. £100M Up to 3 years

AA-

AA-

F1+

F1+

SINGAPORE

DBS Bank Ltd.

United Overseas Bank Ltd.

£100M

£100M

Up to 3 years

Up to 3 years

AA-

AA-

AA

F1+

F1+

F1+

SWEDEN

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB

Swedbank AB

Svenska Handelsbanken

£100M

£100M

£100M

Up to 3 years

Up to 3 years

Up to 3 years

Page 60



32

LOCAL AUTHORITIES

LIMIT OF £25M PER 
AUTHORITY

Any UK local authority

Page 61



33

APPENDIX 6

APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENT

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AAA as at 21 January 
2020.

AAA

 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg*
 Netherlands
 Norway *
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland
 United States

AA

 United Kingdom

* Currently no eligible banks to invest in either country as per the Link Asset Services weekly 
list

Page 62



34

APPENDIX 7 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION

The roles of the various bodies of the City of London Corporation with regard to treasury 
management are:

(i) Court of Common Council

 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities

 Approval of annual strategy.

(ii) Financial Investment Board and Finance Committee

 Approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices

 Budget consideration and approval
 Approval of the division of responsibilities
 Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 

recommendations
 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment.

(iii) Audit & Risk Management Committee

 Reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body.

Page 63



35

APPENDIX 8

THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER

The Chamberlain

 Recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance

 Submitting regular treasury management policy reports
 Submitting budgets and budget variations
 Receiving and reviewing management information reports
 Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function
 Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function
 Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit
 Recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

Page 64



36

APPENDIX 9

CITY’S CASH BORROWING POLICY STATEMENT 

1. The City Corporation shall ensure that all of its City’s Cash capital expenditure, investments 
and borrowing decisions are prudent and sustainable. In doing so, it will take into account its 
arrangements for the repayment of debt and consideration of risk and the impact, and potential 
impact, on the overall fiscal sustainability of City’s Cash. 

2. Borrowing shall be undertaken on an affordable basis and total capital investment must 
remain within sustainable limits. When assessing the affordability of its City’s Cash investment 
plans, the City Corporation will consider both the City’s Cash resources currently available and 
its estimated future resources, together with the totality of its City’s Cash capital plans, income 
and expenditure forecasts. 

3. To ensure that the benefits of capital expenditure are matched against the costs, a debt 
financing reserve will be established. 

4. To the greatest extent possible, expected finance costs arising from borrowing are matched 
against appropriate revenue income streams. 

5. The City Corporation will organise its borrowing on behalf of City’s Cash in such a way as to 
ensure that financing is available when required to manage liquidity risk (i.e. to make sure that 
funds are in place to meet payments for capital expenditure on a timely basis). The City 
Corporation will only borrow in advance of need on behalf of City’s Cash on the basis of a sound 
financial case (for instance, to mitigate exposure to rising interest rates). 

6. The City Corporation will ensure debt is appropriately profiled to mitigate refinancing risk. 

7. The City Corporation will monitor the sensitivity of liabilities to inflation and will manage 
inflation risks in the context of the inflation exposures across City’s Cash (e.g. the City 
Corporation will be mindful of the potential impact of index-linked borrowing on the financial 
position of City’s Cash). 

8. The City Corporation will seek to obtain value for money in identifying appropriate borrowing 
for City’s Cash. Where internal borrowing (i.e. from City Fund or Bridge House Estates) is used 
as a source of funding, the City Corporation will keep under review the elevated risk of 
refinancing. 

9. All borrowing is expected to be drawn in Sterling. Where debt is raised in foreign currencies, 
the City Corporation will consider suitable measures for mitigating the risks presented by 
fluctuation in exchange rates. 

10. Interest rate movement exposure will be managed prudently, balancing cost against likely 
financial impact. 

11. The City Corporation will maintain the following indicators which relate to City’s Cash 
borrowing only: 

 Estimates of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 Overall borrowing limits 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

Agenda Item 13a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93

Agenda Item 13b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 115

Agenda Item 13c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 131

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 141

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Outstanding Actions
	5 Monthly Investment Analysis Review
	1App3. Annex A to Monthly Investment Anaylsis 31-12-2019
	1App3. Annex B to Monthly Investment Anaylsis 31-12-2019
	1App3. Annex C to Monthly Investment Anaylsis 31-12-2019

	6 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2020/21
	2a Treasury Mgmt Strategy Statement Annual Investment Strategy 2020-21 (FINAL)

	11 Non-public minutes of the previous meeting
	12 Non-Public Outstanding Actions
	13a Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2019: Pension Fund
	13b Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2019: City's Cash and Bridge House Estates
	13c Quarterly Monitoring Report
	14 Stewardship Review - Update
	4a. Stewardship Review Update - Appendix

	15 Resolution From The Committee of Aldermen to Administer the Sir William Coxen Trust Fund
	17 Report of Action Taken

